

# North American Moth Populations & the Effects of Changing Climate

A Major Qualifying Project (MQP) Report

Submitted to the Faculty of

WORCESTER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE in

partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the Degree of Bachelor of Science in

Biology & Biotechnology, Environmental & Sustainability Studies

Submitted By:

Zoë Swartley Michelle Kirtich

March 19, 2024

**Project Advisor:** Marja Bakermans Department of Biology & Biotechnology

This report represents the work of one or more WPI undergraduate students submitted to the faculty as evidence of completion of a degree requirement. WPI routinely publishes these reports on the web without editorial or peer review.

## Authorship

Chapter Section	Primary Author(s)	Primary Editor(s)	
Introduction & Moth Decline	Zoë	Michelle	
Climate Change	Michelle & Zoë	Zoë	
Moth Importance	Michelle	Zoë	
Citizen Science	Zoë	Michelle & Zoë	
Silk Moths	Michelle	Zoë & Michelle	
Methodology	Michelle	Zoë	
Results	Zoë	Michelle	
Discussion	Zoë & Michelle	Michelle & Zoë	
Conclusion	Zoë	Michelle	

#### Abstract

While the thought of moths for most might conjure up images of closet infestations, chewed-up clothes, and the flapping of gray wings, these nocturnal creatures uphold vital roles and provide many services to the ecosystem. Moth species unfortunately have been declining in recent decades due to many reasons, including climate change. In this study, we analyze the datasets of four different moth species derived from iNaturalist, a growing platform of both professional and citizen scientists that enables people to document observations of plants and animals in the natural world. We proceeded to look for trends in the proportion of moth observations by latitude and month as well as how these trends corresponded, if at all, to climate data for the Northeastern United States. We found that average monthly precipitation was more positively associated to the proportion of observations by latitude than was average monthly temperature, as well as noticed general decreases in proportions for latitude group 40 and increasing trends for groups 25 and 30. We saw a general increase in the proportion of observations for March, April, and September and decreases for May and June. While more indepth research is needed to explain exactly why these trends are occurring, rising global temperatures and extreme precipitation are two major geographically pervasive stressors that interact with all other factors. With the help of apps like iNaturalist, we can monitor and better grasp the impacts of environmental changes on moth and other insect populations.

## Acknowledgements

Our project was made possible through the guidance and support of several individuals from the Worcester Polytechnic Institute community, in addition to the invaluable resources provided to us by the Gordon Library.



We are especially indebted to our project advisor, Dr. Marja Bakermans, for their unwavering guidance, mentorship, and expertise. Her insightful feedback played a pivotal role in shaping our research, and her patience and encouragement were instrumental in helping us navigate the challenges and uncertainties that often accompany such endeavors in ecological research.

We would also like to extend our thanks to State Ornithologist Andrew Vitz for their fieldwork help in the early stages of our project, as well as those who've contributed observations to the datasets we analyzed from iNaturalist.



## **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	1
GLOBAL MOTH DECLINE	1
CLIMATE CHANGE	2
MOTH IMPORTANCE	5
Environmental	5
Moths as Bioindicators	6
CITIZEN SCIENCE	8
SILK MOTHS	11
Cecropia Moths	12
Luna Moths	12
Polyphemus Moths	14
	15
METHODOLOGY	17
DATA COLLECTION	17
DATA ANALYSIS	18
RESULTS	20
LATITUDE	20
MONTH	21
CLIMATE DATA & STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	24
DISCUSSION	29
DATASET	29
IMPACT OF LATITUDE ON MOTH COMMUNITIES	. 31
CONCLUSION	35
APPENDICES	36
APPENDIX A: PROPORTION OF OBSERVATIONS BY LATITUDE GROUP 2012-2022	36
APPENDIX A: PROPORTION OF OBSERVATIONS BY LATITUDE GROUP 2012-2022	37
APPENDIX A: PROPORTION OF OBSERVATIONS BY LATITUDE GROUP 2012-2022	38
APPENDIX B: SLOPE AND R <sup>2</sup> VALUES FOR OBSERVATIONS BY LATITUDE	39
APPENDIX C: PROPORTION OF OBSERVATIONS BY MONTH 2012-2022	40
APPENDIX C: PROPORTION OF OBSERVATIONS BY MONTH 2012-2022	41
APPENDIX C: PROPORTION OF OBSERVATIONS BY MONTH 2012-2022	42
APPENDIX D: SLOPE AND R <sup>2</sup> VALUES FOR OBSERVATIONS BY MONTH	43
APPENDIX E: SILK MOTH SEASONALITY GRAPHS FOR 2012-2022	44
APPENDIX E: SILK MOTH SEASONALITY GRAPHS FOR 2012-2022	45
APPENDIX F: MAP OF U.S. CLIMATE REGIONS AS DEFINED BY NOAA	46
REFERENCES	47

# List of Figures

1.	Species Richness of Moth Larvae in Relation to Temperature Over Time	3
2.	Simulated Effect of Climate Change on Codling Moth Voltinism & Phenology	5
3.	The Positive Feedback Loop Created by iNaturalist	10
4.	Cecropia Moth	13
5.	Cecropia Moth Distribution	13
6.	Luna Moth	14
7.	Luna Moth Distribution	14
8.	Conservation Status of Luna Moth Across North America	14
9.	Polyphemus Moth	15
10.	Polyphemus Moth Distribution	15
11.	Rosy Maple Moth	16
12.	. Rosy Maple Moth Distribution	16
13.	Map Blueprint of Latitudinal Sections	18
14.	Proportion of Cecropia Moth Observations by Latitude Group for 2012-2022	20
15.	Proportion of Cecropia Moth Observations by Month for 2012-2022	22
16.	Cecropia Moth Seasonality for the Years 2012-2022	23
17.	Average Temperature in the Northeast United States Over Time	26
18.	Average Precipitation in the Northeast United States Over Time	26
19.	Major Forest Regions of the Eastern United States	32

## List of Tables

1.	Descriptive Statistics and ANOVA Results for Proportion of Moth Observations	24
2.	Proportion of Observations by Latitude in Relation to Climate Data	27

### Introduction

While the thought of moths for most might conjure up images of closet infestations, chewed-up clothes, and the flapping of gray wings, these nocturnal heroes uphold vital roles in the environment and provide a variety of services to both humans and the ecosystem. Unfortunately, as with countless other insects, moth communities are declining in the face of climate change and other human-induced afflictions to the planet (Wagner 2020). In this paper, we will dive further into the topic of moth decline, highlight their importance to both research and their environment, and focus specifically on the impacts that shifting climate in the northeast has on native silk moth populations using data from iNaturalist.

#### **Global Moth Decline**

Moth populations in the northeastern United States are experiencing a significant decline, mirroring global trends observed in regions such as Great Britain, Scotland, Sweden, and the Netherlands. A comprehensive review from the Munis International Entomology and Zoology Research Journal reveals alarming statistics, with declines ranging from 27% to a staggering 71% in different countries (Dar and Jamal 2021). For example, in Great Britain, a 35-year study of common macro-moth species discovered a 54% decline in the abundance of the 338 species surveyed, with grassland specialists faring the worst (Conrad et al. 2004). Changes in the country's grassland management over recent years aligns with the results of the study and supports the sentiment that changes to, and overall poor land management poses a serious threat to insect communities (Dengler et al. 2014; Alison et al. 2017). Habitat specialists and oligophagous herbivores- common traits of most moth larvae- oftentimes are found to be more sensitive to environmental changes due to their heavy dependance on local host plant quality and abundance (Dennis et al. 1992; Steffan-Dewenter and Tscharntke 2004). Another study in Sweden found that out of the 597 butterfly and moth species present at the Kullaberg Nature Reserve in the 1950s, a drastic 70% of those deemed habitat specialists were extirpated from the area in 2004 due to fewer patches and reduced area of suitable habitat (Franzén and Johannesson 2007).

More research is needed to investigate the intricacies of moth and other insect decline, as the main drivers are multifaceted and vary for different species. In addition to poor land management as mentioned previously, habitat loss resulting from commercial forestry, intensive agriculture, urbanization, and industrial development is a leading suspect for moth decline (Wagner 2021). Biomes around the globe are in a constant state of change and have been altered by humans for a variety of reasons. For example, deciduous and hardwood forests- ecosystems that are of great importance to the silk moths we are focusing on— are heavily affected by human activities like logging and intensive agriculture. Forests all over North America have been impacted by human infrastructure for centuries; in the United States alone, roughly 90% of its original forests have been logged and/or exploited since 1600 (Vasseur 2012). Copious species of moths rely heavily on the invaluable resources that forests provide, from a diversity of food sources and shelter/breeding sites to niche microclimates and even pheromone communication (Kotze et al. 2022). This complexity of forest resources significantly impacts the life cycle, behavior, and overall survival of moths. Their relationship with forests is so interconnected that they even have specific niches within the vertical stratification of temperate deciduous forests (DeSmedt et al. 2019).

It is undeniable that the ongoing alteration of these ecosystems from human use is having a severe impact on moth and other insect communities. Especially in the age of climate change, it is imperative we continue to research and understand the drivers of global insect decline as they play vital roles in the food chain, influencing individuals across lower and higher trophic levels.

#### **Climate Change**

In the long term, the effect of rising global temperatures on moth communities may be catastrophic. Every species has a temperature optimum, and if global warming persists at such an increased rate, the once ideal habitats for moths will soon exceed these optima (Uhl 2022). Additionally, increased temperatures will reduce both quantity and quality of native plants (Raza 2019), limiting the vital growing stage of moth larvae.

While studies have shown that the egg and adult life stages of some moth species react either favorably or with dormancy in response to increased temperature changes, the caterpillar often reacts negatively (Uhl 2022). For example, a slight increase in temperature has been shown

to improve adult moth flight time, but laboratory studies have found that caterpillars have high mortality rates with increasing temperature and drought (Uhl 2022). Rising temperatures can also lead to warm and wet winters— providing ample conditions for fungal infections, to which many overwintering caterpillars, such as *Arctia caja*, are prone to (Conrad et al. 2002). In a study on the effects of temperature and drought on coastal Mediterranean moth larvae, exposure to increased temperatures during larval development resulted in decreased species richness, especially for summer-developing larvae as shown in *figure 1* (Uhl 2022). On the other hand, studies on larvae with summer dormancy have shown that some smaller species will exhibit reduced fecundity in response to warmer temperatures, whereas larger species tend to retain egg production at equal levels (Haeler et al. 2014).





Above all, caterpillar survival is heavily dependent on the abundance and quality of native plants for food. Thus, even the slightest changes in temperature can affect the growth of native plants, and in turn the entire food chain. In this age of increasing global temperatures, the seasonal timings of plants are advancing at an average of about 4 times faster than that of insects, which causes moth emergence and food plant maturation to fall out of sync (Forrest 2016). Moth development has evolved to be synchronized with the cycles of food plants they are reliant upon,

and as rising temperatures cause plant growing seasons to become longer and warmer, this synchronization becomes misaligned (Harvey et al. 2023). As plants grow in these altered timeframes, they require more water and nutrients from the environment which creates a positive feedback loop of rising temperatures and plants shifting their seasonality (Forrest 2016).

Climate change is also advancing phenology, as reflected by instances of early insect emergence. In a study on the impacts that climate change exerts on the voltinism and phenology of Codling moths (*Cydia pomonella*), Swedish biologists simulated future climactic conditions for 2045-2074 using a stochastic weather generator to estimate risk levels for the emergence of a second generation. They found that as temperatures rise with time, the projected risk of a pronounced second generation of Codling moths in Sweden could increase from the current 20% to a shocking 70-100% (Stoeckli et al. 2012). They also identified a significant two-week shift towards earlier phenological stages under future conditions, as portrayed by the advanced adult moth flight starts in *figure 2*. What this shows is that earlier flight times can lead to extended reproductive periods for moths, resulting in additional broods and of course the cascading effects on the ecosystem that accompany them. Shifts in voltinism and phenology pose potential repercussions for plant-pollinator relationships, predator-prey dynamics, and overall ecosystem stability (Visser et al. 2006; Kuta 2023). The consequences of such shifts underscore the interconnectedness of species and the vulnerability of ecosystems to climate-induced disruptions. Understanding and addressing these shifts is thereby essential for effective environmental management and conservation efforts in the face of ongoing climate change.



The graph above was produced from a Swedish study on Codling moth voltinism and phenology in response to climate change, reflecting earlier adult moth flight dates under future conditions for all 10 study sites. Adult moth flight start (DOY) is defined as the day of year when >1% of adult moths emerge. Projected moth flight dates under climactic conditions for 2045-2074 are represented by the black boxes and current flight dates by the grey boxes. Graph A represents the "overwintering generation", or first generation, and B represents the second generation. "Codling Moth Adult Flight Start Under Present and Future Climate Conditions" by Sibylle Stoeckli is licensed under CC BY 4.0

#### **Moth Importance**

#### Environmental

With about 160,000 species worldwide, moths are incredibly diverse and have great ecological significance— especially to the terrestrial food web (Moths 2020). In agricultural landscapes, macro-moths can provide unique and highly complex pollen transport links, making them vital components of wild plant–pollinator networks in agroecosystems (Walton et al. 2020). Moths are also essential pollinators in that some species continue to pollinate nocturnally while

many other pollinators rest. Nocturnal moths contribute vital services for both wild plants and agricultural crops, as well as providing resilience to diurnal networks (Walton et et al. 2020). Moths pollinate a wider variety and quantity of plants, notably night-blooming varieties, that daytime pollinators might have missed. Crops such as strawberries, stone fruit, peas and Brassica/Raphanus sp. (a complex which includes the highly valuable crop oil-seed rape) are largely pollinated by moths (Macgregor 2019).

Moths play an essential role in the food chain, serving as a critical food resource at virtually every point in their lifecycle for various animals including songbirds, bats, small mammals, and other insects (Barbaro et al. 2011). In fact, some predatory insects and multiple bird species have adapted their predatory skills to target specific life stages of certain moths. For example, ants and hornets prey on moth caterpillars, spiders and beetles feed on moth pupae, and small rodents, lizards, skunks, and even bears feed on moths during virtually every life stage (Barbaro et al. 2011). Moths also serve as hosts for many parasitic species such as wasps. Trichogramma pretiosum, a common parasitoid wasp, lay their eggs inside host moth eggs using an ovipositor, which prevents moths from hatching and breaks their life cycle (Teerink 1979). Above all, moths are the most important food source for birds as nearly ninety-six percent of all terrestrial birds raise their young on insects, especially butterfly and moth caterpillars (Brenner 2018). Notably during the breeding season, birds cannot reproduce on berries and seeds alone; birds that typically eat seeds switch to insects (primarily moth caterpillars) when feeding chicks as they provide most fat and protein while excluding the hard chitin that comes with other insects (Mwansat 2015). Most adult insects contain 50-75% protein and 5-35% lipid whereas larvae of moths and butterflies are about 40-70% protein and 10-40% lipid (Kim et al. 2019). The higher protein concentration in moths improves predators' muscle growth and maintenance while the high fat concentration serves as a concentrated energy source. Aside from their environmental niches, moths also are vital resources for scientists and researchers.

#### Moths as Bioindicators

Lepidoptera is undoubtedly one of the most thoroughly studied insect lineages, backed by an ongoing, extensive repertoire of studies showcasing the life histories of countless butterfly and moth species (Hill et al. 2021). Existing literature provides valuable insights into how

processes, including community-level (trophic interactions), population-level (geographic ranges), organismal (behavior, physiology, morphology, genetics), and phenological (voltinism), all interact and respond to environmental changes. This makes moths ideal models for monitoring the effects of climate change, particularly in investigating connections between species traits and distribution due to the wide availability of distributional data obtained from citizen science monitoring programs (Hill et al. 2021).

Moths have also been proven to be useful indicators of biodiversity. It is difficult for ecologists to accurately measure biodiversity in ecosystems as many species, especially insects, are understudied or remain undiscovered. Thus, most attempts to monitor insect diversity involve generalizations and large extrapolations from few well-studied taxa (Thoman 2015). In addition to the lack of long-established datasets and studies, biodiversity indicators are difficult to select as many sampling techniques tend to be too arduous or aren't cost-effective for certain species. Fortunately, moths possess essential characteristics for being practical indicators of biodiversity; not only are they are easy to identify and trap, but they also have a high alpha diversity, extended seasonal activity, and a strong ecological association with specific plants and habitats (Duran et al. 2022). Ecosystem health and resilience is often reflected in the responses of species with distinct environmental preferences and requirements (specialists), as stress can lead to visible changes in their distribution ranges, population sizes, and extinction rates (Franzén et al. 2023). A recent study analyzed Saturniidae moths as bioindicators for seasonality and precipitation patterns in the Brazilian savannah, finding a strong positive correlation between rainfall seasonality and Saturniidae abundance primarily due to their physiological tolerance (Braga and Diniz 2018). Moths have been underutilized as an essential taxon for rapid biodiversity assessments despite being able to do so effectively and with limited resources (Duran 2022). Their distribution and abundance patterns are valuable metrics proven useful in assessing ecosystem health and may also be indicative for other terrestrial invertebrates (Merckx et al. 2022). Thus, the continued research and investigation into moth communities and their responses to environmental stress is imperative to understanding the effects climate change has on biodiversity and ecosystem health.

#### **Citizen Science**

One such source of data and research that has contributed considerably to moth population and distribution tracking are citizen science monitoring programs. Citizen science, also known as community science or voluntary biological monitoring, is the collection and analysis of data by members of the public, usually in collaboration with professional scientists. Citizen science is essential as it not only helps collect large amounts of diverse data, but also increases awareness about science and issues among the general public. When used properly, citizen science can enhance an organization's abilities to conserve protected areas, monitor natural resources, and track species (Pocock 2017). The Florida LAKEWATCH is an example of a citizen science program, where volunteers that live near Florida rivers, lakes, and estuaries annually contribute to over 1.5 million hours to monitor the lake waters of Florida (Conrad et al. 2011). This program is a collaboration between government agencies and communities in which the keys components of its success are maintaining consistent long-term funding and integrating professionals and volunteers (Communications n.d.).

The effectiveness of citizen science lies in its organization and structure of the project, which we can see clearly when looking at citizen science projects targeted towards moth communities. We looked at three separate citizen science programs focused on moths and their ecosystems: The Garden Moth Scheme (GMS), the UK's Butterflies for the New Millennium project, and the National Moth Recording Scheme (NMRS). The GMS was a program conducted in Britain where participants ran garden light traps and answered a questionnaire. This proved to be incredibly successful as it had a defined protocol and guidelines, resulting in more accurate data and more participants each year (Bates et al. 2013). On the other hand, the Butterflies for the New Millennium project and NMRS were unsuccessful citizen science programs. These programs had no sampling protocols, resulting in a large variety between different UK sampling groups (Fox et al. 2019). While citizen science is an important part of scientific discovery, it must be done properly in order to reach effective and accurate results.

In the age of technology, our mobile devices and associated apps serve as powerful tools in collecting data and enable millions of people worldwide to contribute to ecological research. For our research paper, we focused on data from the app iNaturalist, a platform of naturalists, biologists, and citizen scientists who map and share observations of biodiversity around the

world. The iNaturalist app was founded in 2008 to serve as a global community for nature observation and identification where users can upload images and other media of their plant, animal, or fungi observations (iNaturalist n.d.). These can then be identified and verified by the rest of the iNaturalist community and biodiversity data can be collected to create a crowdsourced species identification system. As their mission statement, iNaturalist claims "to connect people to nature and advance biodiversity science and conservation" (Loarie 2023). iNaturalist aims to create a world in which biodiversity information is open and accessible, so much so it has even been used as an educational tool to teach and promote curiosity about biology in schools. Inquiry-based and hands-on approaches are known to have positive impacts on student learning, and iNaturalist does just that by creating an immersive learning experience (Eden 2023).

Even beyond educational initiatives, citizen science programs and the data that is collected from them are increasing at an exponential rate. As a result of this, biodiversity research is becoming increasingly dependent on citizen science (Pocock 2017). Programs such as iNaturalist and eBird provide enough scientific data to understand ecological patterns at temporal and spatial scales not possible decades ago. Australia is the top contributing nation of iNaturalist observations in the southern hemisphere, and top four contributing nations globally. Studies have found that iNaturalist in Australia significantly drives research in conservation, spatial ecology, and macro-ecology as well as contributes to broad-scale ecological databases (Mesaglio et al. 2021). Ideally, iNaturalist popularity and research effectiveness would create a positive feedback loop with each other as illustrated in *figure 3*. Unfortunately, Australian (and many other countries') scientific policies are led not by quality biological observation but by the cost associated with said research. This can lead to negative repercussions for biodiversity. Citizen science data tends to be very cheap (Cavalier et al. 2016) and thus provides incentivization for policymakers to use this data to make more accurate and meaningful policies. Many papers suggest that a blend of community science data with long-term surveying by experts could serve as a more reliable method to biodiversity monitoring (Sumner et al. 2019).



For our paper, we chose to analyze silk moth data retrieved from the iNatualist database. The data was open-access, easy to filter and download, and contributed to an aspect of sustainability in our project. Citizen science is an inherently sustainable practice, and iNaturalist exemplifies this through its engaging of global communities in documenting and understanding biodiversity, which simultaneously promotes environmental conservation, education, and collaboration and aligns with several UN sustainable development goals.

By advocating for environmental conservation, restoration, and sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, iNaturalist directly supports SDG 15 "Life on Land". While most observations are of terrestrial organisms, a portion of them are aquatic, thus also contributing to SDG 14 "Life Below Water" which promotes the conservation and sustainable use of marine resources (United Nations 2015). SDG 4 "Quality Education" is also met, as iNaturalist provides a platform for all individuals to learn more about the environment around them while enabling

them to contribute directly to ecological research. Collaboration is built into the platform's nature, as data from the public is met with affirmations and/or revising from licensed biologists and other experts. SDG 17 "Partnerships for the Goals" emphasizes the importance of partnerships for sustainable development, so by facilitating the sharing of biodiversity data between various groups, iNaturalist contributes to the broader effort to achieve this goal. Lastly, and although not its primary focus, iNaturalist indirectly supports SDG 13 "Climate Action" by raising awareness of how climate change can impact biodiversity (United Nations 2015).

#### **Silk Moths**

Lepidoptera, the order of winged insects encompassing butterflies and moths, houses the superfamily *Bombycoidea*, which encapsulates all silk moths. The most common conception of silk moths is the domestic silk moth (*Bombyx mori*), which has been historically bred to specialize in silk production and played an incredible role in the distribution of silk throughout human history (Panthee et al. 2017). However, *Bombycoidea* encompasses much more than this one species, including ten other families such as giant silk moths (*Saturniidae*), and sphinx moths (*Sphingidae*) (Kitching et al. 2018).

Silk moths are vital components of the ecosystem as they are herbivores and serve as prey for other insects and animals. The mouthparts of adult silk moths are vestigial, and their digestive tracts are absent, resulting in stored fatty reserves and ultimately very short lifespans (Campos-Domínguez 2017). Their nutrient composition is a vital source of fats and proteins for birds, bats, and other predators and accounts for a large portion of insect biomass. For the purpose of this research paper, each of our moths belongs to the *Saturniidae* family, which contains the largest members of silk moths including emperor moths (*Saturnia pavonia*), royal moths (*Citheronia regalis*), and giant silk moths (*Hyalophora cecropia*). Moths in the *Saturniidae* family are often brightly colored and are some of the largest extant insects, ranging from 1-6 inches and up to 12 inches. Our four focal species are cecropia moths (*Hyalophora cecropia*), luna moths (*Actias luna*), polyphemus moths (*Antheraea polyphemus*), and rosy maple moths (*Dryocampa rubicunda*).

#### Cecropia Moths

The cecropia moth (see *figure 3*) is North America's largest native moth and it belongs to the genus *Hyalophora*. They are a Nearctic species with a wide range throughout the United States and Canada, as shown in *figure 4*, in which they are commonly found in temperate forests, urban, and rural areas (Cecropia 2023). They can be found on young hardwood trees, in backyards, woodland areas, orchards, and new housing developments. Their cocoons are typically found under turfs of grass or shrubs to help avoid predation (Geoffrey 2010).

Adult cecropia moths have a massive wingspan of 110 to 180 cm (about 5.91 ft) and as seen in *figure 3*, the wings are black and red with dispersed white scales (Johnstone 2020). There is no sexual dimorphism other than slight differences in the size of the antennae: males have a larger quadripectinate antennae which assists in detection of female pheromones (Vance 2023).

The larvae are polyphagous folivores that feed on a large variety of deciduous shrubs and trees. These plants include apples (*Malus*), ashes (*Fraxinus*), beeches (*Fagus*), birches (*Betula*), cherries (*Prunus*), dogwoods (*Cornus*), maples (*Acer*), larch (*Larix*), poplars (*Populus*), and willows (*Salix*) (Cecropia 2023). Based on past records of moth collectors, it's been estimated that current populations of cecropia moths are much less dense than they were in the 19th century (Vance 2023). Potential causes are complex and multifaceted, ranging anywhere from an increase in urban development and use of pest control, to the destruction of host trees and the introduction of parasitoid species such as the tachinid fly. The cecropia moth is considered a stable population however, and there are no known conservation efforts (Vance 2023).

<image>

Pictured on the left is a cecropia moth photo by Mark Beckemeyer licensed under CC BY-NC 2.0 (Johnstone 2020). The image on the right shows the distribution of cecropia moths across North America, with the green area indicating regions where cecropia moths are native to. (Cecropia Moth 2023).

#### Luna Moths

The luna moth (see *figure 5*), also known as the American moon moth, belongs to the genus *Actias*. *Figure 6* maps their distribution throughout the United States and parts of Canada, in which they are commonly found in deciduous hardwood forests (iNaturalist n.d.). They are a nocturnal species and have an incredibly short adult lifespan of 7-10 days (Schweitzer 2005).

Their pale green wings are lined in a deep pink hue on the uppermost edge, and they possess four crescent-like eyespots to ward off predators (Ausmus 2000). They mimic living and dead leaves on the ground and it's essentially impossible to see them during the daytime when they are roosting on sycamore trees. Southern populations tend to prefer eating pick walnuts, hickories, sumacs, sweetgum, and persimmon while northern populations prefer white birch (Kavalerskaia 2023). Males and females do not have much sexual dimorphism; the main differences are that males have larger antennas and females have larger abdomens because of deposited eggs. Their wingspan typically ranges from 75 to 105 mm (about 4.13 in), (Hall 2007) but can grow up to 178 mm (about 7.01 in), making the luna moth one of the largest moths in North America. Due to human behavior, wild silk moth numbers have declined since the 1960's. Luna moths often face habitat destruction and disrupted mating due to the increased use of bright vapor lights. We can see in *figure 7* that luna moth populations tend to be secure.

Fig. 5 & 6: Luna Moth and its Distribution



Pictured on left is a photograph of a luna moth by ggallice (Geoff Gallice), CC BY-NC 2.0 (Ausmus 2000). The image on the right depicts its distribution across the United States-the yellow dots representing individual moth observations collected via iNaturalist (iNaturalist, n.d.).



#### Polyphemus Moths

The polyphemus moth (see *figure 8*) is a North American moth belonging to the genus *Antheraea*. Their distribution is heavily concentrated along the east coast of the United States

and parts of the Midwest, though they are also present in some areas of the west coast and Canada as shown by the distribution map in *figure 9*. Within these areas, polyphemus moths inhabit urban areas, deciduous hardwood forests, wetlands, and orchards. Their wings are multitoned, with pale and darker brown sections and yellow-ringed, eye-like markings present on each wing. Adult polyphemus moths have wingspans ranging from 10 to 15 cm (about 5.91 in). There is essentially no sexual dimorphism other than ornamental in which the male polyphemus moths have bushy antennae for detecting pheromones and females have slender antennae (Kalola 2011). The caterpillars feed on the leaves of sweetgum (L*iquidambar*), birch (*Betula*), grape (*Vitis*), hickory (*Carya*), maple (*Acer*), oak (*Quercus*), willow (*Salix*), and members of the rose family (*Rosaceae*) (Moth 2023).



Pictured on the left is a photograph of a polyphemus moth by Wildreturn and is licensed under CC BY-NC 2.0. (Openverse 2023). The image to the right illustrates the distribution of polyphemus moth across North America, with the blue points representing regions where polyphemus moths have been observed (Moth Photographers Group 2023).

#### Rosy Maple Moths

The rosy maple moth (see *figure 10*) is a small North American moth belonging to the genus *Dryocampa*. Their distribution within the United States is approximately the whole right half of the country, extending into the lower east regions of Canada (see *figure 11*). In these locations, the rosy maple moth inhabits temperate deciduous forests. As the name implies, they are often associated with maple trees such as box elder maples (*Acer negundo*), silver maples (*Acer saccharinum*), sugar maples (*Acer saccharum*), and red maples (*Acer rubrum*). Depending

on where these host trees are, the rosy maple moth has also been spotted in suburban areas (Bouseman et al. 2002).

Their wing coloration can range from bright yellow and pink to unmarked white. This wide range of appearances is linked to polymorphism occurring within different geographic regions. For example, uniquely in Missouri the rosy maple moth is all white with minimal faint pink maculation (Damele 2013). Sexual dimorphism is present in wing size and shape; males tend to have narrower and less rounded wings when compared to females, though both sexes have an average wingspan of 32 to 55 mm (about 2.17 in). There are also differences in ornamentation as males have bipectinate antennae while females have simple antennae (Damele 2013). Their caterpillars, also known as green-striped maple worms, also have different coloration depending on their stage of development. They are florivorous (specificity in eating leaves), and early larvae feed in union but eventually become solitary feeders. While it is difficult to find the direct correlation between climate change and the rosy maple moth populations, it should be noted that these moths are very sensitive to temperature (Bailey 2023). Adults become active in the warmer months of the year, and they have a high prevalence with high temperatures. This may be since their subfamily *Ceratocampinae* has tropical origins or their lack of efficient body temperature control due to their small size.



Pictured to the left is a photograph of a rosy maple moth (Southern Living 2023) and the left shows the distribution map of rosy maple moths across North America. The green areas indicate regions where rosy maple moths are native to (Dziedzic 2019).

### Methodology

The aim of our study was to analyze iNaturalist datasets for four silk moth species recorded in the contiguous United States across varying latitudinal groups. We chose to focus our research solely on species observed in the United States as that was where a majority of iNaturalist observations were documented. We specifically looked at silk moth species as they were both abundant in data and play important roles as bioindicators of climate and other environmental change (Chowdhury et al. 2023).

#### **Data Collection**

In choosing which silk moth species to further investigate, we browsed the different species information pages on iNaturalist, paying specific attention to the interactive seasonality graphs at the top right of each page. In efforts to see if peak months are changing over time for moth communities, we chose species with varying seasonality and later mimicked these graphs using our narrowed data.

After choosing our target moths (luna, cecropia, polyphemus, and rosy maple), we used iNaturalist's export tool (iNaturalist 2023) to download csv files for each species. To narrow the results, we applied several filters to the data before exporting. We wanted only research-grade observations recorded in the wild, so we chose "Research" for quality grade and "No" for the captive/cultivated option. We then chose "United States (country)" for the place, "25" for SW latitude, and "50" for NW latitude to limit observations to the contiguous United States that fall between the 25 and 50<sup>th</sup> parallels (which we later divide into latitude groups as outlined in *figure 13*). By clicking the "Create Export" button at the bottom of the page, we were able to download the data and continue our analysis in both R and Microsoft Excel.



#### **Data Analysis**

Two of our main research goals were to analyze the moth data in terms of latitude group and in terms of month of the year. We first assigned each observation a latitude group based on their coordinates (see latitude group details in *figure 13*) and separated the date of each observation into day/month/year columns for convenience. Rather than working with the actual number of moth observations, we converted this data into proportions and created two pivot tables: one for proportion of observations by latitude and the other proportion of observations by month. In doing so, we were able to better visualize the distribution of observations over time and found that most observations were recorded from 2012 onward. We therefore decided to narrow our data to observations recorded from 2012-2022, as 2023 was not yet a full year of data. Because iNaturalist has been growing in popularity and use in more recent years it was essential to use proportions of moths as it provided a more holistic viewpoint of the data. From here, we created line graphs for each moth species illustrating the relationship between proportion of observations and latitude group and proportion of observations by month for 2012-2022.

#### Statistical Analysis

To examine if the proportion of observations was related to latitude or month, we ran separate ANOVA analyses in R for each moth species. We then incorporated climate data into our analysis using the NOAA Regional Time Series Climate Monitoring Tool (Climate 2023) and downloaded CSV sheets of 2012-2022 average temperatures, min/max temperatures, and precipitation for the Northeast United States (see Appendix F for which region NOAA defines as Northeast). We first ran a correlation test in Excel between each of the weather variables and we found that average, minimum, and maximum temperatures were all strongly correlated with one another (each r > 0.7). Thus, we chose average temperature to move forward with further analyses in addition to precipitation, as it was only slightly positively correlated to the other weather variables (r < 0.7). We ran correlation tests between these variables and proportions by latitude but not by month, as it is already common knowledge that weather data corresponds to time of year.

### **Results**

#### Latitude

On average, the highest proportions of observations for each of the moth species were recorded within latitude groups 35 and 40 whereas groups 25 and 45 on average contained the lowest proportions of observations (aside from cecropia moths, in which groups 25 and 30 were the lowest). Even though groups 35 and 40 contain the highest proportion of observations, they have been slightly decreasing over time as shown by the graphs in appendix A. Cecropia moths however saw a spike in observations for latitude group 35 in 2016, hence the positive slope (y = 0.008x + 0.1163), but they've been decreasing ever since (see *figure 14*).



The image above contains a graph depicting the proportion of Cecropia moth observations recorded within the different latitude groups across the contiguous United States for the years 2012-2022. Latitude groups are defined as 25 (25 'N to 29 'N, shown in red), 30 (30 'N to 34 'N, shown in orange), 35 (35 'N to 39 'N, shown in green), 40 (40 'N to 44 'N, shown in blue), and 45 (45 'N to 49 'N, shown in purple). General trends in proportions are illustrated by their respective trendlines and corresponding slopes can be found in Appendix A.

For cecropia moths (on average in decreasing order), the proportion of observations was greatest in latitude groups 40, 45, 35, 30, and lastly 25. The most prominent pattern seen in the data was that all latitude groups besides 40 had proportions that remained below 30% whereas group 40 ranged 50-62%. Most latitude groups for cecropia moths had proportions that were approximately the same over the ten-year span, aside from a slight increase in group 35 (7% increase) and slight decreases in groups 40 (5.8% decrease) and 45 (5.78% decrease). The proportion of luna moth observations was greatest in latitude group 35 followed by 40, 30, 45, and 25. While group 35 had a steady trend in proportions, groups 25, 30, and 45 all showed slight increases over time (1.73%, 9.48%, 1.85% increase respectively). Group 40 was the only one to decrease over time at a sharp 13.87%. Polyphemus moths had proportions greatest in groups 35 and 40, then 30, 45, and lastly 25. Group 35 again remained consistent whereas groups 25 and 30 increased (9.64% and 8.77%) and groups 40 and 45 decreased (16.77% and 7.94%) from 2012 to 2022. Lastly, rosy maple moths exhibited highest proportions of observations in latitude groups 35 and 40 (ranging 25.33-63.56%) while the remaining groups all generally fell below the 20% range. Most groups had steady trends, though the most notable ones were 30 with a 6.12% increase and 40 with a 4.57% decrease. Graphs for each moth's observation proportions by latitude can be found in Appendix A, and the respective  $R^2$  values and slopes are contained in Appendix B.

#### Month

On average, the highest proportions of observations for each moth were recorded during the month of June from 2012-2022 aside from polyphemus moths which experienced the highest proportions in August. July and August were close seconds for most moths, though May also displayed some high numbers especially for cecropia and rosy maple. March and September were generally the months with the lowest proportions of observations except for polyphemus moths in which September consistently had higher numbers than March, April, most of May, and occasionally even June. General trends in proportions of observations by month are illustrated in the graphs contained in Appendix C, with corresponding slopes and R<sup>2</sup> values in Appendix D. A sample graph for cecropia moths is shown below in *figure 15*.



The graph above depicts the proportion of cecropia moth observations recorded within each month for the years 2012-2022 across the contiguous United States. Months were narrowed to March (red), April (orange), May (yellow), July (light blue), August (dark blue), and September purple) as they contained the most data recordings. General trends in proportions are illustrated by their respective trendlines and corresponding slopes can be found in Appendix D.

The majority of 2012-2022 cecropia moth observations were recorded in June (proportions ranging 19.05%-37.65%) aside from 2012 and 2015 where May saw the highest proportions (49.21% and 33.65%). Most months were extremely consistent in their yearly proportions (i.e. y= 0.006x-12.111, R<sup>2</sup>= 0.5762 for June) though the most prominent change was seen in May as the proportion of observations dropped from 49.21% in 2012 to 16.33% in 2022 (32.88% decrease). Proportions for the months March, April, July, and September remained below 20% for all 10 years. Similarly, March, April, May excluding 2012, and September all had proportions remaining below 20% for luna moths. They've also experienced high proportions of observations in June though they've been decreasing over time (13.3% decrease since 2012). Aside from the sharp decrease in June, luna moths have shown slight increases for the months April (1.9%), July (9.1%), August (7.5%), and September (4.4%). Polyphemus moths on the other hand had almost an even split between increased and decreased proportions. Four out of the seven months saw increases (March 3.56%, April 2.12%, August 10.4%, and September 4.13%) while the remaining three saw decreases (May 8.04%, June 12.09%, July 9.4%). Unlike the other

moth species, polyphemus moths on average had highest proportions of observations in August. Lastly, rosy maple moths displayed highest proportions in June and July ranging from 25.22%-40.57%. The rest of the months on average had proportions remaining below 20%, with March and September being the lowest (below 5%). The proportions for June have been decreasing with time (10.36% decrease since 2012) whereas proportions for April, August, and September have all shown slight increases (3.72%, 9.50%, and 1.86% respectively).

To illustrate which months exhibit peaks in moth observations over time, we created seasonality graphs inspired by the interactive graphs listed on the homepage of each species on the iNaturalist website. We mimicked the general style of this graph for each of our species of interest, but instead used proportion of observations as our dependent variable as opposed to actual number of observations like iNaturalist does. A sample seasonality graph for cecropia moths is pictured below in *figure 16*, and the rest can be found in Appendix E. We can see that there has been a slight shift in peak months for all moths besides cecropia.



The above graph depicts the proportion of cecropia moth observations in each month for the years 2012-2022 across the contiguous United States. This helps illustrate the shifts in peak months for moths over time and enables us to make predictions about shifting population dynamics in response to changing climate.

In 2012 and 2015, cecropia moths peaked in observations for the month of May and in 2019 they peaked in August, but June was the top month for all other years between 2012-2022. *Figure 16* depicts proportions dropping for the month of July and peaking a second time in August for most years. For luna moths, there was a slight shift in seasonality to later months (July and August) between 2017-2019 but otherwise has consistently experienced peaks in June with the occasional second spike in August. Polyphemus moths experienced peaks on the later end, with peaks in August for 2017, 2019, and 2022 and in July for 2012. The rest of the years peaked in June, with 2013, 2016, 2020, and 2021 showing a second spike in August. Rosy maple moths had no second spikes in proportion of observations and saw a shift towards later months for 2017-2019 and 2022, where peaks occurred in July whereas previous years saw peaks in June.

#### **Climate Data & Statistical Analysis**

After graphically examining the proportions of observations in respect to latitude group and month, we decided to further analyze these relationships through statistical analysis and compare them to northeastern climate data. We first examined if proportion of observations differs by latitude or month by running separate, single-factor ANOVA tests for each species in R. We also ran descriptive statistics in Excel for each moth's proportion of observations by latitude for 2012-2022 as well as by month. Table 1 lists these metrics along with the results from each ANOVA test. It was found that for all moth species, there was statistical significance between proportion of observations and both latitude and month (p < 0.001).

Descriptive Statistics for Proportion of Observations								
Moth	Cecropia		Luna		Polyphemus		Rosy Maple	
Would	Lat	Month	Lat	Month	Lat	Month	Lat	Month
Min	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.00
Max	0.62	0.49	0.44	0.35	0.42	0.27	0.64	0.41
Range	0.62	0.49	0.42	0.33	0.40	0.26	0.64	0.41
Std. D	0.20	0.11	0.13	0.08	0.11	0.06	0.20	0.13

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics and ANOVA Results for Proportion of Moth Observations

Results for Single-Factor ANOVA								
Moth	Cecropia		Luna		Polyphemus		Rosy Maple	
mour	Lat	Month	Lat	Month	Lat	Month	Lat	Month
df	4	6	4	6	4	6	4	6
F	267.5	26.58	140.9	42.55	80.6	32.83	131.9	131.3
p-value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001

The above table shows descriptive statistics and ANOVA test results for proportion of observations by latitude and by month for the years 2012-2022. Highlighted in grey are the results for the monthly proportions and in white are the results for proportions by latitude.

Once we understood how the proportions of observations for each moth species related to latitude and month, we then compared them to the average temperatures and precipitation for the northeastern United States, whose region is defined by the NOAA map listed in Appendix F. Below are *figures 17 & 18*, which contain graphs of average monthly temperature and average monthly precipitation of the northeastern United States over the years 2012-2022. As expected, we see the lowest average temperatures occurred during March and the highest average temperatures were recorded for July and August. Though changes in average temperature over time may be miniscule and difficult to see in such a particular area/timeframe, it has been proven by countless climate scientists and is generally agreed upon that average global temperatures have been on the rise (Butler 2018). As for precipitation, the trajectory of the graph is less predictable. The greatest average precipitation values occurred during June of 2013 and 2015 (7.26in and 7.57in respectively) and the lowest during September of 2014 (1.93in). Overall, it appears that most months are increasing in average precipitation levels as time goes on, which aligns with current trajectories of increased extreme weather (Jentsch 2007).



Fig. 17 & 18: Average Temperature and Precipitation in the Northeastern United States

Knowing that temperature varies by latitude, we were curious as to how proportions of observations in our chosen latitude groups correlate to temperature. To do so, we chose to run correlations in Excel between average temperature, precipitation, and proportion of observations by latitude for each separate year. We found that for cecropia moths, proportion of observations by latitude had a strong, positive correlation to average temperature for the years 2014 (r = 0.733) and 2021 (r = 0.758) as well as to precipitation for 2013 (r = 0.943) and 2015 (r = 0.957). For luna moths, proportion of observations had no strong correlations to average temperature but had strong, positive correlations to precipitation for the years 2012, 2019, and 2022 (r = 0.906, 0.886, and 0.719). Proportion of polyphemus moth observations only showed a strong, positive correlations to precipitation for the years 2012, 2013, and 2019 (r = 0.779, 0.784, and 0.74) and a strong, negative correlation in 2020 (r = -0.816). An interesting observation we noted here is how average temperature was strongly correlated only to cecropia moth proportions during 2014 and 2021, whereas precipitation was strongly correlated to proportion of observations for every species for at least one year (see *Table 2* below).

Is Proportion of Observations Correlated to Climate Data?								
Moth	Cecropia		Luna		Polyphemus		Rosy Maple	
WIGHT	Avg. T	Precip.	Avg. T	Precip.	Avg. T	Precip.	Avg. T	Precip.
2012	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
2013	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	Yes
2014	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
2015	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No
2016	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
2018	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
2019	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes
2020	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes
2021	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
2022	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No

Table 2: Proportion of Observations by Latitude in Relation to Climate Data

The table above lists the results of each correlation test ran between proportion of observations by latitude and both average temperature and precipitation for 2012-2022. Highlighted in yellow are the instances where proportion and a weather variable were strongly correlated to each other (r > 0.7).

### **Discussion**

#### Dataset

Before diving into potential explanations for trends in our selected data, we want to first preface that the datasets we analyzed, though they contained hundreds of thousands of observations, are only a select portion of actual moth populations to exist during our chosen timeframe. This is mainly because these observations are only what have been recorded in iNaturalist, which launched in 2008 and relies heavily on everyday people and scientists to collect data. Since its launch date, the number of overall observations each year has been roughly doubling, and according to the nonprofit's 2018 year in review, the site had not passed the 100,000 observations a year threshold until 2012—hence our focus on the years 2012-2022 (Loarie 2018). Seeing as the popularity and general use of this resource required some time to gain traction, the number of moth observations closer to their launch date may not reflect actual population abundances (Möglich et al. 2023). Even nowadays when observations are at an alltime high, results can still not entirely be representative of actual moth communities due to increased user activity during certain times of the year or even by latitude group. For example, nature observation projects such as eBird and iNaturalist have the highest number of observations in June. When looking at overall (not just nature-based) citizen science projects, we can also see a direct and positive correlation between contribution and seniority among participants (Strasser 2023). While such variability correlates to the seasonality and individuals' skill level, we can begin to see how biases may impact the data collection process.

The data itself has many biases just due to its nature. While it has been thought that citizen science programs are helping in reflecting the wants and needs of citizens, citizen science appears to concentrate on affluent municipalities while excluding highly marginalized regions (Fernández-Álvare 2022). iNaturalist data comes from citizens who log observations they make in nature using their mobile device or computer. One, this limits data collection to only those with internet or access to a device, making areas with less access prone to lower numbers of observations than there may be (Scheibner 2021). Thus, remote and/or disadvantaged communities may be underrepresented, especially in our proportions by latitude data. Studies have found that marginalized groups in society are also underrepresented from citizen science.

This includes people with lower social, human, and economic capita (Pateman et al. 2021). Two, there is room for user and/or artificial intelligence (AI) error in accurately identifying the organism. Users have the option to choose between AI-suggested species after uploading photos of their organism, and even though photos and descriptions are provided with suggested species, users still may choose an incorrect option that can go unresolved by scientists. Additionally, photos uploaded by users may also be too blurry for the AI system to provide accurate identification options and for scientists to agree/disagree with. This is another reason we chose the four silk moths we did, as they're easily identifiable and have few lookalikes (Luna n.d.; Giant n.d.; Roads 2014), thereby potentially reducing the risk of false positives. As mentioned in our methods, we narrowed the data to only "research grade" observations, which are observations that 2/3 of the community voters agree on. This filter does a sufficient job at eliminating additional false positives from our dataset (i.e., a different moth species incorrectly identified as a cecropia etc.), though there is always a small potential for error (Koch et al. 2022). The influence of AI in causing inconsistencies in datasets within the biological research community is becoming a common topic of interest, especially in genome sequencing research where it is increasingly difficult to avoid false positives when analyzing datasets using AI (Mallick et al. 2009). Unfortunately, there is no easy way for us to pinpoint false positives in our datasets due to their sheer sizes; we would have to look at the tens of thousands of observations one by one and compare them with their associated photo file--- if one is even provided. It is for all these reasons that we recognize the trends and correlations we report may not be entirely representative of the actual trends in these moth populations, but rather what trends are arising in the iNaturalist community that can help inform us about potential trends.

Even though these trends may not entirely be true to what is happening in the wild, they still hold some validity especially as the app grows in popularity. What these trends can show us is the potential shifting of peak months for proportion of moth observations. The datasets iNaturalist and other citizen science-based programs possess are incredibly helpful to the scientific community as they are very large and cover areas in which professionals may not have the time or resources to collect data (Strasser et al. 2023). Through documenting observations, citizens are directly contributing to biodiversity research by providing data that scientists can use to track species distribution and abundance, monitor the effects of environmental changes, and ultimately make informed decisions for biodiversity conservation (Duncan et al. 2017). As

climate change affects the distribution of species, iNaturalist data can be used to track these shifts and adapt conservation strategies accordingly. Community scientists provide hundreds of thousands of valuable insect observations annually, and several studies have already shown how said data has informed ecologists on insect abundances, distributions, and phonologies (Prudic et al. 2023). One such study in South Africa formed a citizen science project titled the "Baboon Spider Atlas" (BSA) in which community members upload photos to the BSA website of baboon spider encounters. As a result of citizen science, the BSA assembled the largest database of baboon spider information in Southern Africa and discovered not only that their ranges are expanding and are limited by cold/wet climactic conditions, but also documented new behavior in adult females and immatures that challenged the previous notion that baboon spiders are sedentary (Campbell 2017). While the BSA is an ongoing project, the Campbell paper was only based on data from the initiative's launch date in 2013 to October 2017— a dataset nearly half the size of the ones we analyzed, yet still incredibly accomplished in its findings and insights into baboon spider ecology. Other studies have reached similar conclusions that citizen science monitoring programs are effective tools in collecting large quantities of data that scientists would require tenfold the amount of time and resources to accomplish. Another study in the UK found that two weeks' worth of community-collected wasp data generated coverage comparable to over four decades of recordings by experts (Sumner et al. 2019). Seeing as each of our moth datasets is ten years' worth of data, the shifts we noted in proportions by latitude and peak months provide constructive insights into long-term species distribution and phenology.

#### Impact of Latitude on Moth Communities

Latitude plays a crucial role in shaping the diversity, distribution, and behavior of nearly all organisms, and moths are no exception. Moth species are not evenly distributed around the world as their diversity and composition vary with latitude (Antão 2020). This aligns with the Latitudinal Diversity Gradient Theory, which claims that there is high taxonomic, phylogenetic, functional, genetic, or phenetic biodiversity near the equator, and less such biodiversity as you move towards the poles (Willing 2018). While the specific causes of this phenomenon are unknown, the primary cause is thought to be temperature (influenced by solar radiation) on evolutionary speed (Rohde 1992). We documented that latitude groups 35 and 40 exhibited on

average the highest proportions of observations for each moth, meaning that states falling between the 35<sup>th</sup> and 45<sup>th</sup> parallel seem to be the hotspots for our moths of interest. On the East Coast, the border between North Carolina and Georgia marks the 35<sup>th</sup> parallel, and the 45<sup>th</sup> parallel runs through New York, Vermont, New Hampshire, and Maine (see figure 13). This region falls within the distribution patterns for each moth (see *figures 4,6,9, & 11*), and the latitude groups with the lowest proportions of observations (groups 25 and 45) mark the bottom and top portions of these distribution map. It makes sense that groups 35 and 40 showed the highest proportions of observations because the region between the 35<sup>th</sup> and 45<sup>th</sup> parallel has a large availability of preferred host plants, as biodiversity tends to increase as latitude declines (Ha et al. 2023). Cecropia moth caterpillars feed mainly on the leaves of birch, cherry, and maple trees common to this area (Hoffman 1978). Luna moth caterpillars also feed on the leaves of a variety of native hardwoods, primarily hickory and birch (Patlan 2000), and polyphemus caterpillars feed on broad-leaved trees and shrubs such as sweetgum, birch, maple, and oak (Kalola 2011). As implied by its name, rosy maple caterpillars feed on the leaves of maple trees, especially those of red and sugar maples widely distributed in this region (Damele 2013). Figure 19 below illustrates the major forest regions of the Eastern United States (Dey et al. 2012).





Another interesting trend we noticed was that each moth species experienced both a slight decline in proportion of observations for latitude group 40 and a slight increase in groups 25 and 30 from 2012-2022. The increase in lower latitudes surprised us, as we know most preferred host plants were found in the 35th to 45th range. In addition, many new studies that address moth populations in terms of latitude and climate change are hypothesizing that in response to warming, species are expanding their ranges poleward regardless of their latitudinal range extent and habitats (Burner et al. 2021; Antão 2020). While this might not make sense for groups 25 and 30, this can be a potential explanation as to why there was a general decreasing trend in latitude group 40, as moths from this region may be traveling north. However, this may not be exactly the case as the decreases from latitude 40 were not directly reflected in latitude group 45, seeing as there was a 50/50 split in terms of increasing and decreasing trends.

Based on our correlations between proportion of observations and climate data, we saw that precipitation appeared to have a closer-knit relationship to proportion of observations than did temperature, though relative importance of temperature and precipitation can vary based on a region's specific climate or habitat. For example, the effects of precipitation on species abundance may arguably outweigh those of temperature in arid regions where even minor rainfall events may have profound impacts on moth communities as moisture availability is usually a limiting factor (Brehm et al. 2007). Perhaps proportions are increasing in groups 25 and 30 due to the region experiencing increased precipitation over time, though we cannot say for sure as we only analyzed weather data for the Northeast (see Appendix F) and do not possess latitudinal weather data. However, plenty of current climate studies report trends of increased precipitation levels globally, thus it is entirely possible these latitudes experienced such trends (Harp et al. 2022; Myhre et al. 2019). In contrast, temperature may be a more consistent factor influencing moth development and activity in more tropical or temperate regions (Uhl 2022). While average environmental temperature is still an incredibly important factor that influences everything from life cycle timing to insect behavior and basic metabolic processes, precipitation ultimately can have more immediate, conspicuous influences that directly impact population dynamics. Precipitation dictates facets like resource availability and breeding conditions, which are essential to moth survival and proliferation. Adequate rainfall leads to the increase in plant growth and production of new leaves, serving as both an essential diet for moth caterpillars and favorable breeding conditions for adult moths, as they often lay their eggs on or near preferred

host plants (Bertea et al. 2020). In addition to this, precipitation can deter moth predators such as bats and birds which allows moths a greater chance at survival and reproduction. It is for these reasons that we believe precipitation tended to correlate more with the proportion of moth observations than average temperature.

### Conclusion

While more in-depth research is needed to explain exactly why these trends are occurring, rising global temperatures and extreme precipitation are two major geographically pervasive stressors that interact with all other factors. As climate change continues to alter our ecosystems, understanding the responses of wildlife like moths is essential for informed conservation strategies and biodiversity preservation. With the help of apps like iNaturalist, we can monitor and better grasp the impacts of environmental changes on moth and other insect populations.

The survival of moth and other pollinator species is directly tied to our own survival. While the control of rising global temperatures may be out of individual civilians' hands, there are still ways to help native moth populations. As previously discussed, moths are essential pollinators and food sources. The rising temperatures of climate change are hurting moth populations, especially those at high latitudes and elevations that are even more susceptible to changing temperatures (Moth 2014). The most effective method for increasing local moth diversity and population is increasing the amount of wildflower species found in your backyard, garden, or around your neighborhood (Blumgart et al. 2023). In addition, increased participation in citizen science programs, such as iNaturalist, can help the scientific community understand moths and their patterns.

# **Appendices**



**Appendix A: Proportion of Observations by Latitude Group 2012-2022** 

The image above contains a graph depicting the proportion of Cecropia moth observations recorded within the different latitude groups across the contiguous United States for the years 2012-2022. Latitude groups are defined as 25 (25 'N to 29 'N, shown in red), 30 (30 'N to 34 'N, shown in orange), 35 (35 'N to 39 'N, shown in green), 40 (40 'N to 44 'N, shown in blue), and 45 (45 'N to 49 'N, shown in purple). Latitude groups and colors depicting them as shown above are kept continuous for all moths.



**Appendix A: Proportion of Observations by Latitude Group 2012-2022** 



**Appendix A: Proportion of Observations by Latitude Group 2012-2022** 

Latitude	Cecropia	Luna	Polyphemus	Rosy Maple
Group				
25	$y = 0.0014x + 0.015$ $R^2 = 0.2131$	$y = 0.0021x - 4.1155$ $R^2 = 0.3031$	$y = 0.0091x + 0.0536$ $R^{2} = 0.5868$	$y = 0.0005x + 0.0139$ $R^{2} = 0.014$
30	$y = 0.0005x + 0.063$ $R^2 = 0.0048$	$y = 0.0081x - 16.044$ $R^2 = 0.365$	$y = 0.0031x + 0.2175$ $R^{2} = 0.0642$	$y = 0.0065x + 0.0584$ $R^{2} = 0.1825$
35	$y = 0.008x + 0.1163$ $R^2 = 0.2251$	$y = -0.0013x + 3.0914$ $R^2 = 0.0119$	$y = -0.0013x + 0.32$ $R^{2} = 0.0109$	$y=-0.0003x+0.3897$ $R^{2}=0.0002$
40	$y = -0.0023x + 0.5882$ $R^2 = 0.0493$	$y = -0.011x + 22.447$ $R^2 = 0.4715$	$y = -0.0083x + 0.3428$ $R^2 = 0.217$	$y = -0.0082x + 0.5234$ $R^2 = 0.0654$
45	$y = -0.0078x + 0.2167$ $R^{2} = 0.1382$	$y = 0.0031x - 6.2502$ $R^2 = 0.1061$	$y = -0.0025x + 0.0661$ $R^{2} = 0.0962$	$y = 0.0015x + 0.0145$ $R^{2} = 0.0932$

## Appendix B: Slope and R<sup>2</sup> Values for Observations by Latitude



**Appendix C: Proportion of Observations by Month 2012-2022** 



**Appendix C: Proportion of Observations by Month 2012-2022** 



## **Appendix C: Proportion of Observations by Month 2012-2022**

Month	Cecropia	Luna	Polyphemus	Rosy Maple
MAR	$y = 0.0009x - 1.822$ $R^2 = 0.0266$	$y = 0.0009x - 1.7937$ $R^2 = 0.1409$	$y = 0.0019x - 3.7779$ $R^2 = 0.0978$	$y = 0.0009x - 1.7937$ $R^2 = 0.1409$
APR	$y = 0.006x - 12.111$ $R^2 = 0.5762$	$y = 0.0034x - 6.8414$ $R^2 = 0.2732$	$y = 0.0035x - 6.9166$ $R^2 = 0.4535$	$y = 0.0034x - 6.8414$ $R^2 = 0.2732$
MAY	$y = -0.0199x + 40.254$ $R^2 = 0.2848$	$y = -0.0021x + 4.3532$ $R^{2} = 0.0188$	$y = -0.0037x + 7.6458$ $R^{2} = 0.1354$	$y = -0.0021x + 4.3532$ $R^2 = 0.0188$
JUN	y = -0.0001x + 0.5988 $R^2 = 8E-05$	$y = -0.0098x + 20.075$ $R^2 = 0.3474$	$y = -0.012x + 24.381$ $R^{2} = 0.5829$	$y = -0.0098x + 20.075$ $R^2 = 0.3474$
JUL	$y = 0.004x - 7.9238$ $R^2 = 0.233$	$y = -0.0004x + 1.0544$ $R^2 = 0.0017$	$y = -0.0078x + 15.85$ $R^{2} = 0.5234$	$y = -0.0004x + 1.0544$ $R^2 = 0.0017$
AUG	$y = -0.0015x + 3.1532$ $R^2 = 0.0103$	$y = 0.004x - 7.8664$ $R^2 = 0.0596$	$y = 0.0053x - 10.444$ $R^2 = 0.1604$	$y = 0.004x - 7.8664$ $R^2 = 0.0596$
SEP	$y = 0.0039x - 7.873$ $R^2 = 0.1456$	$y = 0.003x - 5.9636$ $R^2 = 0.3731$	$y = 0.0044x - 8.7754$ $R^{2} = 0.3286$	$y = 0.003x - 5.9636$ $R^2 = 0.3731$

## Appendix D: Slope and R<sup>2</sup> Values for Observations by Month



**Appendix E: Silk Moth Seasonality Graphs for 2012-2022** 

The above graph depicts the proportion of luna moth observations in each month for the years 2012-2022 across the contiguous United States. This helps illustrate the shifts in peak months for moths over time and enables us to make predictions about shifting population dynamics in response to changing climate.



## Appendix E: Silk Moth Seasonality Graphs for 2012-2022

The uppermost graph depicts the proportion of polyphemus moth observations per month for the years 2012-2022 and the bottom graph represents the same relationship but for rosy maple. These particular graphs help illustrate the shifts in peak months for moths over time.



## Appendix F: Map of U.S. Climate Regions as Defined by NOAA

## References

Alison J, Duffield SJ, Morecroft MD, Marrs RH, Hodgson JA. 2017. Successful restoration of moth abundance and species-richness in grassland created under agri-environment schemes. Biological Conservation. 213:51–58. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.07.003.

Antão LH, Pöyry J, Leinonen R, Roslin T. 2020. Contrasting latitudinal patterns in diversity and stability in a high-latitude species-rich moth community. Lancaster L, editor. Global Ecology and Biogeography. 29(5):896–907. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13073.

Bailey M, Horn D. 2007. Effect of temperature variables on ultraviolet trap catches of Actias luna and Dryocampa rubicunda (Saturniidae) in Wayne National Forest, OHIO. Number 1 Journal of the Lepidopterists' Society. 61(1):21–27. https://images.peabody.yale.edu/lepsoc/jls/2000s/2007/2007(1)21-Bailey.pdf.

Barbaro L, Battisti A. 2011. Birds as predators of the pine processionary moth (Lepidoptera: Notodontidae). Biological Control. 56(2):107–114. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2010.10.009.

Bates AJ, Sadler JP, Everett G, Grundy D, Lowe N, Davis G, Baker D, Bridge M, Clifton J, Freestone R, et al. 2013. Assessing the value of the Garden Moth Scheme citizen science dataset: how does light trap type affect catch? Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata. 146(3):386–397. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/eea.12038.

Belitz MW, Larsen EA, Shirey V, Li D, Guralnick RM. 2022. Phenological research based on natural history collections: Practical guidelines and a lepidopteran case study. 37(2):234–247. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.14173.

Bertea CM, Casacci LP, Bonelli S, Zampollo A, Barbero F. 2020. Chemical, Physiological and Molecular Responses of Host Plants to Lepidopteran Egg-Laying. Frontiers in Plant Science. 10. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.01768.

Blumgart D, Botham MS, Menéndez R, Bell JR. 2023. Floral enhancement of arable field margins increases moth abundance and diversity. Journal of Insect Conservation. 27(3):455–465. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-023-00469-9.

Bouseman JK, Sternburg JG. 2002. Field Guide to Silkmoths of Illinois. Illinois Natural History Survey Manual no 10. https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/items/120616.

Braga L, Diniz IR. 2018. Can Saturniidae moths be bioindicators? Spatial and temporal distribution in the Brazilian savannah. Journal of Insect Conservation. 22(3-4):487–497. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-018-0076-6.

Brehm G, Colwell RK, Kluge J. 2007. The Role of Environment and Mid-Domain Effect on Moth Species Richness along a Tropical Elevational Gradient. Global Ecology and Biogeography. 16(2):205–219. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4139441.

Burner RC, Selås V, Kobro S, Jacobsen RM, Sverdrup-Thygeson A. 2021. Moth species richness and diversity decline in a 30-year time series in Norway, irrespective of species' latitudinal range extent and habitat. Journal of Insect Conservation. 25(5-6):887–896. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-021-00353-4.

Butler C. 2018. Climate Change, Health and Existential Risks to Civilization: a Comprehensive Review (1989–2013). International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 15(10):2266. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15102266. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6210172/.

Campbell H, Engelbrecht I. 2017. The Baboon Spider Atlas - using citizen science and the "fear factor" to map baboon spider (Araneae: Theraphosidae) diversity and distributions in Southern Africa. Leather S, Buddle C, editors. Insect Conservation and Diversity. 11(2):143–151. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12278.

Cecropia Moth - Hyalophora cecropia - NatureWorks. nhpbsorg. https://nhpbs.org/natureworks/cecropiamoth.htm.

Cecropia moth - Hyalophora cecropia Linnaeus. entnemdeptufledu. https://entnemdept.ufl.edu/creatures/bfly/moth2/cecropia\_moth.htm

Chowdhury S, Vinod Kumar Dubey, Choudhury S, Das A, Deepika Jeengar, B. Sujatha, Kumar A, Kumar N, Anshuman Semwal, Kumar V. 2023. Insects as bioindicator: A hidden gem for environmental monitoring. Frontiers in Environmental Science. 11. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2023.1146052

Climate at a Glance | Regional Time Series | National Centers for Environmental Information (NCEI). wwwnceinoaagov. [accessed 2024 Mar 3].

https://www.ncei.noaa.gov/access/monitoring/climate-at-a-glance/regional/time-series

Communications I. What is Florida LakeWatch? - Florida Lake Watch - University of Florida, Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences - UF/IFAS. lakewatchifasufledu. <u>https://lakewatch.ifas.ufl.edu/about-us/what-is-florida-lakewatch/</u>.

Conrad KF, Woiwod IP, Perry JN. 2002. Long-term decline in abundance and distribution of the garden tiger moth (Arctia caja) in Great Britain. Biological Conservation. 106(3):329–337. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-3207(01)00258-0.

Conrad CC, Hilchey KG. 2010. A review of citizen science and community-based environmental monitoring: issues and opportunities. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment. 176(1-4):273–291. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-010-1582-5.

Damele A. Dryocampa rubicunda (rosy maple moth). Animal Diversity Web. https://animaldiversity.org/accounts/Dryocampa\_rubicunda/.

Dar AA, Jamal K. 2001. The decline of moths globally: A review of possible causes. The decline of moths globally: A review of possible causes. 16(1):317–326. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. https://www.munisentzool.org/Issue/abstract/the-decline-of-moths-globally-a-review-of-possible-causes\_13614.

De Smedt P, Vangansbeke P, Bracke R, Schauwvliege W, Willems L, Mertens J, Verheyen K. 2018. Vertical stratification of moth communities in a deciduous forest in Belgium. Didham R, Müller J, editors. Insect Conservation and Diversity. 12(2):121–130. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12320.

Dengler J, Janišová M, Török P, Wellstein C. 2014. Biodiversity of Palaearctic grasslands: a synthesis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment. 182:1–14. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.12.015.

Dennis EB, Brereton TM, Morgan BJT, Fox R, Shortall CR, Prescott T, Foster S. 2019. Trends and indicators for quantifying moth abundance and occupancy in Scotland. Journal of Insect Conservation. 23(2):369–380. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-019-00135-z.

Dennis R, Shreeve T, Shreeve K, Porter K. 1992 Jan. The Ecology of Butterflies in Britain. Research Gate . [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/340978600\_The\_Ecology\_of\_Butterflies\_in\_Britain.

Dey D, Brissette J, Schweitzer C, Guldin J. 2012. USDA Forest Service GTR-SRS-161. https://www.srs.fs.usda.gov/pubs/gtr/gtr\_srs161/gtr\_srs161\_007.pdf.

Dziedzic B. 2019. Raising butterflies in the garden. Buffalo, New York ; Richmond Hill, Ontario: Firefly Books.

Duran DP, Timar M, Rothauser B. 2022. Single Night Surveys of Moth Communities Can Serve as Ultra-Rapid Biodiversity Assessments. Insects. 13(12):1135. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/insects13121135.

Eden A. 2023. Ecosystem ExplorersUtilizing iNaturalist to Promote Inquiry in the Classroom. The American Biology Teacher. 85(4):216–221. doi:https://doi.org/10.1525/abt.2023.85.4.216. https://online.ucpress.edu/abt/article-abstract/85/4/216/195979/Ecosystem-ExplorersUtilizing-iNaturalist-to?redirectedFrom=fulltext.

Elderd BD, Reilly JR. 2014. Warmer temperatures increase disease transmission and outbreak intensity in a host-pathogen system. Wilson K, editor. Journal of Animal Ecology. 83(4):838–849. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12180.

Fernández-Álvarez R, Gutiérrez Ladrón de Guevara M de J. 2022. Socio-ecological patterns of citizens science programs: The case of forestry observations in 3 central Mexico states. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening. 70:127513. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2022.127513.

Forrest JR. 2016. Complex responses of insect phenology to climate change. Current Opinion in Insect Science. 17:49–54. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2016.07.002.

Fox R, Bourn NAD, Dennis EB, Heafield RT, Maclean IMD, Wilson RJ. 2019. Opinions of citizen scientists on open access to UK butterfly and moth occurrence data. Biodiversity and Conservation. 28(12):3321–3341. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-019-01824-6.

Franzén M, Johannesson M. 2007. Predicting extinction risk of butterflies and moths (Macrolepidoptera) from distribution patterns and species characteristics. Journal of Insect Conservation. 11(4):367–390. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-006-9053-6.

Franzén M, Forsman A, Karimi B. 2023. Anthropogenic Influence on Moth Populations: A Comparative Study in Southern Sweden. Insects. 14(8):702. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/insects14080702. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37623412/.

Giant Silkworm Moths | Entomology. entomologycaukyedu. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. https://entomology.ca.uky.edu/ef701#:~:text=Promethea%20Moth%20(Callosamia%20promethe a)&text=The%20female%20promethea%20resembles%20the.

Guralnick RP, Campbell LP, Belitz MW. 2023. Weather anomalies more important than climate means in driving insect phenology. Communications Biology. 6(1):1–9. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-023-04873-4. <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/s42003-023-04873-4</u>.

Haeler E, Fiedler K, Grill A. 2014. What Prolongs a Butterfly's Life?: Trade-Offs between Dormancy, Fecundity and Body Size. Flatt T, editor. PLoS ONE. 9(11):e111955. doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0111955.

Hall D. 2007 Jun. luna moth - Actias luna (Linnaeus). entnemdeptufledu. https://entnemdept.ufl.edu/creatures/misc/moths/luna\_moth.htm.

Halsch CA, Shapiro AM, Fordyce JA, Nice CC, Thorne JH, Waetjen DP, Forister ML. 2021. Insects and recent climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 118(2). doi:https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2002543117.

Harp RD, Horton DE. 2022. Observed Changes in Daily Precipitation Intensity in the United States. Geophysical Research Letters. 49(19). doi:https://doi.org/10.1029/2022gl099955.

Hoffman L. 1978. The Cecropia: An Incredible Eating Machine. Iowa Science Teachers Journal. 15(1):24–27. <u>https://scholarworks.uni.edu/istj/vol15/iss1/15/</u>.

Hill GM, Kawahara AY, Daniels JC, Bateman CC, Scheffers BR. 2021. Climate Change Effects on Animal ecology: Butterflies and Moths as a Case Study. Biological Reviews. 96(5). doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12746.

iNaturalist. iNaturalist. https://www.inaturalist.org/observations/export.

Jentsch A, Kreyling J, Beierkuhnlein C. 2007. A new generation of climate-change experiments: events, not trends. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. 5(7):365–374. doi:https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2007)5[365:angoce]2.0.co;2.

Kalola R, Steffey S. Antheraea polyphemus. Animal Diversity Web. https://animaldiversity.org/accounts/Antheraea\_polyphemus/.

Kavalerskaia A, Kazachkova E, Nikolić-Lukovska N, Marinović N. 2023. Moth Luna (Actias luna). AIDASCO Reviews. 1(2):14–16. doi:https://doi.org/10.59783/aire.2023.28. https://publishing.aidasco.org/journals/index.php/aire/article/view/28/34.

Kim T-K, Yong HI, Kim Y-B, Kim H-W, Choi Y-S. 2019. Edible Insects as a Protein Source: A Review of Public Perception, Processing Technology, and Research Trends. Food Science of Animal Resources. <u>https://www.kosfaj.org/archive/view\_article?pid=kosfa-39-4-521</u>.

Kitching I, Rougerie R, Zwick A, Hamilton C, St Laurent R, Naumann S, Ballesteros Mejia L, Kawahara A. 2018. A global checklist of the Bombycoidea (Insecta: Lepidoptera). Biodiversity Data Journal. 6:e22236. doi:https://doi.org/10.3897/bdj.6.e22236.

Koch W, Hogeweg L, Nilsen EB, Finstad AG. 2022. Maximizing citizen scientists' contribution to automated species recognition. Scientific Reports. 12(1):7648. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-11257-x. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-022-11257-x.

Kotze DJ, Lowe EC, MacIvor JS, Ossola A, Norton BA, Hochuli DF, Mata L, Moretti M, Gagné SA, Handa IT, et al. 2022. Urban forest invertebrates: how they shape and respond to the urban environment. Urban Ecosystems. 25. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-022-01240-9.

Kuta S. Huge Cicada Broods Have Ripple Effects on Birds, Caterpillars and Trees. Smithsonian Magazine. <u>https://www.smithsonianmag.com/smart-news/huge-cicada-broods-have-ripple-effects-on-birds-caterpillars-and-trees-180983118/</u>.

Latitudinal Gradient - an overview | ScienceDirect Topics. 2018. Sciencedirectcom. https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/earth-and-planetary-sciences/latitudinal-gradient

Living S. The Pink-and-Yellow Rosy Maple Moth Is an Eye-Catching Garden Visitor. Southern Living. <u>https://www.southernliving.com/garden/rosy-maple-moth</u>.

Loarie S. 2018 Dec 14. Let's condense 15,000,000 observations down to 150 dots. iNaturalist. https://www.inaturalist.org/blog/20336-let-s-condense-15-000-000-observations-down-to-150-dots.

Loarie S. About iNaturalist. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. https://www.inaturalist.org/pages/about#:~:text=Vision%3A%20iNaturalist.

Luna Moth. Missouri Department of Conservation. <u>https://mdc.mo.gov/discover-nature/field-guide/luna-moth</u>.

Luna, Io, Imperial, Cecropia, Polyphemus Moths. texasinsectstamuedu. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. <u>https://texasinsects.tamu.edu/luna-io-imperial-cecropia-polyphemus-</u> moths/#:~:text=There%20are%20a%20number%20of.

Map of Actias luna -- Discover Life. www.discoverlifeorg. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. https://www.discoverlife.org/mp/20m?kind=Actias+luna&centroid=US.

Mallick S, Gnerre S, Muller P, Reich D. 2009. The difficulty of avoiding false positives in genome scans for natural selection. Genome Research. 19(5):922–933. doi:https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.086512.108.

McKinley DC, Miller-Rushing AJ, Ballard HL, Bonney R, Brown H, Cook-Patton SC, Evans DM, French RA, Parrish JK, Phillips TB, et al. 2017. Citizen science can improve conservation

science, natural resource management, and environmental protection. Biological Conservation. 208:15–28. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.05.015.

Merckx T, Feber RE, Hoare DJ, Parsons MS, Kelly CJ, Bourn NAD, Macdonald DW. 2012. Conserving threatened Lepidoptera: Towards an effective woodland management policy in landscapes under intense human land-use. Biological Conservation. 149(1):32–39. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.02.005.

Mesaglio T, Callaghan CT. 2021. An overview of the history, current contributions and future outlook of iNaturalist in Australia. Wildlife Research. doi:https://doi.org/10.1071/wr20154.

Möglich JM, Lampe P, Fickus M, Younis S, Gottwald J, Nauß T, Brandl R, Brändle M, Frieß N, Freisleben B, et al. 2023. Towards reliable estimates of abundance trends using automated nonlethal moth traps. Insect Conservation and Diversity. 16(5):539–549. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12662.

Moth Photographers Group – Antheraea polyphemus – 7757. mothphotographersgroupmsstateedu. https://mothphotographersgroup.msstate.edu/species.php?hodges=7757.

Moth study suggests hidden climate change impacts. 2014 Apr 15. University of Michigan News. <u>https://news.umich.edu/moth-study-suggests-hidden-climate-change-impacts/</u>.

Moths pick up the night shift. 2020 Jul 21. Chesapeake Bay. https://www.chesapeakebay.net/news/blog/moths-pick-up-the-night-shift

Moths. 2020. Smithsonian Institution. https://www.si.edu/spotlight/buginfo/moths.

Mwansat GS, Turshak LG, Okolie MO. 2015. Insects as Important Delicacy for Birds: Expanding our Knowledge of Insect Food Ecology of Birds in the Tropics. ireposunijosedung. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. <u>https://irepos.unijos.edu.ng/jspui/handle/123456789/1352</u>.

Myhre G, Alterskjær K, Stjern CW, Hodnebrog Ø, Marelle L, Samset BH, Sillmann J, Schaller N, Fischer E, Schulz M, et al. 2019. Frequency of extreme precipitation increases extensively with event rareness under global warming. Scientific Reports. 9(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-52277-4.

NatureServe Explorer 2.0. explorernatureserveorg. https://explorer.natureserve.org/Taxon/ELEMENT\_GLOBAL.2.109121/Actias\_luna.

Panthee S, Paudel A, Hamamoto H, Sekimizu K. 2017. Advantages of the Silkworm As an Animal Model for Developing Novel Antimicrobial Agents. Frontiers in Microbiology. 8. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00373.

Pateman R, Dyke A, West S. 2021. The Diversity of Participants in Environmental Citizen Science. Citizen Science: Theory and Practice. 6(1):9. doi:https://doi.org/10.5334/cstp.369.

Patlan L. Actias luna. Animal Diversity Web. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. https://animaldiversity.org/site/accounts/information/Actias\_luna.html.

Patterns of Biodiversity. 2023 Jun 13. Biology LibreTexts. https://bio.libretexts.org/Courses/Coastline\_College/ENVS\_C100%3A\_Environmental\_Science\_ (Hoerer)/04%3A\_Conservation/4.01%3A\_The\_Value\_of\_Biodiversity/4.1.04%3A\_Patterns\_of\_ Biodiversity.

Pérez L, Domínguez J, Fleischer F, García J, Torres A. 2017. Species richness and abundance of Saturniidae (Lepidoptera) in a tropical semi-deciduous forest of Veracruz, Mexico and the influence of climatic variables. Revista Mexicana de Biodiversidad. 88(1):173–182. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmb.2016.10.020. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1870345317300301.

Pocock MJO, Roy HE, Fox R, Ellis WN, Botham M. 2017. Citizen science and invasive alien species: Predicting the detection of the oak processionary moth Thaumetopoea processionea by moth recorders. Biological Conservation. 208:146–154. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.04.010.

Polyphemus Moth. Missouri Department of Conservation. <u>https://mdc.mo.gov/discover-nature/field-guide/polyphemus-moth</u>.

Prudic K, Zylstra E, Melkonoff N, Laura R, Hutchinson R. 2023. Community scientists produce open data for understanding insects and climate change. Current Opinion in Insect Science.

59:101081. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2023.101081. [accessed 2023 Aug 1]. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2214574523000780

Raza A, Razzaq A, Mehmood SS, Zou X, Zhang X, Lv Y, Xu J. 2019. Impact of Climate Change on Crops Adaptation and Strategies to Tackle Its Outcome: A Review. Plants. 8(2). doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/plants8020034.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6409995/.

Roadsendnaturalist. 2014 Aug 5. rosy maple moth. Roads End Naturalist. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. https://roadsendnaturalist.com/tag/rosy-maple-moth/.

Roche J, Bell L, Galvão C, Golumbic YN, Kloetzer L, Knoben N, Laakso M, Lorke J, Mannion G, Massetti L, et al. 2020. Citizen Science, Education, and Learning: Challenges and Opportunities. Frontiers in Sociology. 5. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fsoc.2020.613814.

Rohde K. 1992. Latitudinal Gradients in Species Diversity: The Search for the Primary Cause. Oikos. 65(3):514. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/3545569.

Scheibner J, Jobin A, Vayena E. 2021. Ethical Issues with Using Internet of Things Devices in Citizen Science Research: A Scoping Review. Frontiers in Environmental Science. 9. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2021.629649.

Stoeckli S, Hirschi M, Spirig C, Calanca P, Rotach MW, Samietz J. 2012. Impact of Climate Change on Voltinism and Prospective Diapause Induction of a Global Pest Insect – Cydia pomonella (L.). Cannon AJ, editor. PLoS ONE. 7(4):e35723. doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0035723.

Strasser BJ, Tancoigne E, Baudry J, Piguet S, Spiers H, Luis-Fernandez Marquez J, Kasparian J, Grey F, Anderson D, Lintott C. 2023. Quantifying online citizen science: Dynamics and demographics of public participation in science. PloS One. 18(11):e0293289. doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0293289. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37988360/.

Steffan-Dewenter I, Tscharntke T. 2000. Butterfly community structure in fragmented habitats. Ecology Letters. 3(5):449–456. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2000.00175.x.

Sumner S, Bevan P, Hart AG, Isaac NJB. 2019. Mapping species distributions in 2 weeks using citizen science. Leather S, editor. Insect Conservation and Diversity. 12(5):382–388. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12345.

Teerink BJ, Klomp H, Wei Chun Ma. 1979. Discrimination Between Parasitized and Unparasitized Hosts in the Egg Parasite Trichogramma Embryophagum (Hym.: Trichogrammatidae): a Matter of Learning and Forgetting. 30(2):254–277. doi:https://doi.org/10.1163/002829679x00412.

The Luna Moth. lakesideendeavorscom. <u>http://lakesideendeavors.com/silkmoths/actias\_luna.htm</u>.

The role of moths as nocturnal pollinators. 2019 Mar 19. butterfly-conservationorg. <u>https://butterfly-conservation.org/news-and-blog/the-role-of-moths-as-nocturnal-pollinators</u>.

Thomas JA. 2005. Monitoring change in the abundance and distribution of insects using butterflies and other indicator groups. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. 360(1454):339–357. doi:https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2004.1585.

Uhl B, Wölfling M, Bässler C. 2022. Mediterranean moth diversity is sensitive to increasing temperatures and drought under climate change. Scientific Reports. 12(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-18770-z

Unger S, Rollins M, Tietz A, Dumais H. 2020 Mar 15. iNaturalist as an engaging tool for identifying organisms in outdoor activities. Journal of Biological Education.:1–11. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/00219266.2020.1739114.

United Nations. 2015. The 17 Sustainable Development Goals. United Nations. <u>https://sdgs.un.org/goals</u>.

Vance E. Hyalophora cecropia. Animal Diversity Web. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. https://animaldiversity.org/accounts/Hyalophora\_cecropia/. Vasseur L. 2012. Restoration of Deciduous Forests | Learn Science at Scitable. www.nature.com/scitable/knowledge/library/restoration-of-deciduous-forests-96642239/#:~:text=Logging%20and%20agricultural%20expansion%20led.

Visser ME, Holleman LJM, Gienapp P. 2005. Shifts in caterpillar biomass phenology due to climate change and its impact on the breeding biology of an insectivorous bird. Oecologia. 147(1):164–172. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-005-0299-6.

Wagner DL, Fox R, Salcido DM, Dyer LA. 2021. A window to the world of global insect declines: Moth biodiversity trends are complex and heterogeneous. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 118(2):e2002549117. doi:https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2002549117.

Wagner DL. 2019. Insect Declines in the Anthropocene. Annual Review of Entomology. 65(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-011019-025151.

Walton RE, Sayer CD, Bennion H, Axmacher JC. 2020. Nocturnal pollinators strongly contribute to pollen transport of wild flowers in an agricultural landscape. Biology Letters. 16(5):20190877. doi:https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2019.0877. https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10094846/3/Axmacher\_Noct%20Pollinators%20BL%20fina 1%20accepted%20version.pdf.

Weather anomalies are keeping insects active longer. 2023 Jun 5. Research News. <u>https://www.floridamuseum.ufl.edu/science/weather-anomalies-are-keeping-insects-active-longer/</u>.

Why moths matter. 2020. Butterfly-conservationorg. <u>https://butterfly-</u> <u>conservation.org/moths/why-moths-matter</u>.

Woiwod IP, Gould PJL. 2008. Long-term moth studies at Rothamsted. Plant CW, editor. repositoryrothamstedacuk.:31–44. [accessed 2024 Mar 3]. https://repository.rothamsted.ac.uk/item/89z78/long-term-moth-studies-at-rothamsted.

Working the Night Shift. National Wildlife Federation. <u>https://www.nwf.org/Magazines/National-Wildlife/2018/April-</u> <u>May/Animals/Moths#:~:text=%E2%80%9CNot%20only%20do%20birds%20and</u>.